

University of North Dakota
UND Scholarly Commons

Theses and Dissertations

Theses, Dissertations, and Senior Projects

January 2019

Predicting Mental Health Court Program Outcomes Based On Individual Characteristics In Participant Profiles

Melissa M. De La Luz

Follow this and additional works at: https://commons.und.edu/theses

Recommended Citation

De La Luz, Melissa M., "Predicting Mental Health Court Program Outcomes Based On Individual Characteristics In Participant Profiles" (2019). *Theses and Dissertations*. 2844. https://commons.und.edu/theses/2844

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses, Dissertations, and Senior Projects at UND Scholarly Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of UND Scholarly Commons. For more information, please contact zeineb.yousif@library.und.edu.

PREDICTING MENTAL HEALTH COURT PROGRAM OUTCOMES BASED ON INDIVIDUAL CHARACTERISTICS IN PARTICIPANT PROFILES

by

Melissa Monique De La Luz Bachelor of Science, University of Arizona, 2017

A Thesis

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty

of the

University of North Dakota

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

Master of Science

Grand Forks, North Dakota

December 2019

This thesis, submitted by Melissa M De La Luz in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Master of Science from the University of North Dakota, has been read by the Faculty Advisory Committee under whom the work has been done and is hereby approved.

Dr. Richard Wise, Co-Chair

Dr. Joseph Miller, Co-Chair

Dr. Alan King, Committee Member

This thesis is being submitted by the appointed advisory committee as having met all of the requirements of the School of Graduate Studies at the University of North Dakota and is hereby approved.

Chris Nelson Dean of the School of Graduate Studies

PERMISSION

Title	Predicting Mental Health Court Program Outcomes Based on Individual
	Characteristics in Participant Profiles

Department Forensic Psychology

Degree Master of Science

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a graduate degree from the University of North Dakota, I agree that the library of this University shall make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for extensive copying for scholarly purposes may be granted by the professor who supervised my thesis work or, in his absence, by the chairperson of the department or the dean of the School of Graduate Studies. It is understood that any copying or publication or other use of this thesis or part thereof for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the University of North Dakota in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my thesis.

> Melissa De La Luz September 3, 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLI	EDGMENTSvi
ABSTRACT	vii
CHAPTER	
I.	INTRODUCTION1
	Mental Health Courts2
	Strengths of Mental Health Courts
	Predictors of Successful Completion4
	Established Predictors4
	Age4
	Gender5
	Race5
	Psychological Disorders6
	Co-occurring Substance Use7
	Pre-program Criminal History7
	Potential Predictor Not Used in Prior Studies8
	Warnings of Sanctions8
	Present Study8
II.	METHOD9
	Participants9
	Procedure9
	Measures10

Criteria Variables10
Graduation10
Termination10
Recidivism10
Predictors10
III. RESULTS11
Hypotheses11
Graduation from the Program11
Recidivism13
Parsimony14
Graduation from the Program14
Recidivism15
IV. DISCUSSION16
Limitations and Implications17
TABLES19
REFERENCES

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I have many people to thank for the completion of this project.

Thank you, Dr. Richard Wise, Dr. Joseph Miller, and Dr. Alan King, for your patience and encouragement.

Thank you to the Mental Health Court staff in Northern Arizona for the hours of data collection that helped make this project possible.

Thank you to my parents, Monique and Richard, for always giving me unconditional love and support, especially throughout this project.

Finally, thank you to my friends, Courtney Anders, Ani Mangold, Janaé Giles, Valeria Rios, Elliot Golden, Maggie Godfrey, Taryn Dahms, Megan Selzler, and Erin Jenkins for your unwavering friendship.

Without you, this project would not have been possible.

ABSTRACT

Mentally ill offenders are overrepresented in the criminal justice system and experience increased risks of cyclic incarceration and recidivism following release. Mental health court programs were introduced to offer court ordered treatment regimens and a team of legal and behavioral health professionals as an alternative to incarceration. The goal of mental health court research is to improve graduation rates and decrease post-program recidivism by identifying participant characteristics that significantly contribute to successful program completion. This study proposed an examination of the association between characteristics of mental health court program participants and their influence on the likelihood of graduation, termination, and postprogram recidivism within two years. De-identified data was collected from seventy-five participants currently enrolled in a mental health court program in Arizona. Age and pre-program criminal history significantly predicted whether a participant would graduate or fail their mental health court program. Pre-program criminal history and warnings of sanctions significantly predicted whether a participant would engage in post-program recidivism. Implications of the results of the present study are discussed.

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Traditional criminal court proceedings begin with an arrest. The first hearing in a criminal case is an initial appearance, where the judge informs the suspect of the charges and determines if probable cause exists that the suspect committed the crime. In most criminal cases, a preliminary hearing and a grand jury hearing follow, which can result in an indictment of the suspect (Bureau of International Information Programs, 2004). In 2012, the United States had the highest incarceration rate in the world with 707 inmates per 100,000 people and currently has over 2 million inmates (U.S. Bureau of Justice Statistics, 2014; Lamb & Weinberger, 2014).

Many inmates in U.S. prisons and jails have psychological disorders. In fact, jails and prisons have become the largest provider of mental health services in the U.S. (Moore & Hiday, 2006). Inmates with psychological disorders experience higher rates of re-arrest and recidivism within a shorter timespan than offenders without mental illness (Anestis & Carbonell, 2014; Comartin et al., 2015). For instance, comorbid substance use disorders are shown to predispose mentally ill offenders to criminal behavior (Bonfine et al., 2016). Although mentally ill offenders rarely commit violent crimes (Junginger et al., 2006), many continuously cycle through the criminal justice system (Ray et al., 2015).

Mentally ill offenders frequently experience criminalization because of their lack of access to mental health treatment, housing, and other resources. *Criminalization* refers to the cyclic process of mentally ill offenders who are repeatedly arrested and prosecuted for minor offenses (Moore & Hiday, 2006). Police officers often lack sufficient knowledge of mental illnesses or how to cope with a mentally ill individual due to lack of training. As a result, mentally ill offenders are often incarcerated rather than treated for their mental illnesses (Teplin, 1990). The cycle of criminalization results in a high percentage of persons with mental illness

being imprisoned. In fact, they have comprised between 6% and 22% of all inmates in U.S. prisons in the last 25 years (Moore et al., 2006).

Many mentally ill offenders suffer frequent relapses, rely on emergency rooms for psychiatric care, or become homeless or incarcerated (Hartford et Al, 2005; Mulvale et al, 2007). Lack of access to proper treatment may predispose mentally ill individuals to increased rates of incarceration and shorter timeframes between release and re-arrest (Anestis et al., 2014). Criminological researchers describe the process of mentally ill offenders failing to receive treatment post-release and re-entering the prison system as *transinstitutionalization* (Prins, 2011). Correctional facilities become overburdened with a mass influx of offenders in need of treatment, ultimately predisposing deinstitutionalized mentally ill offenders to failed attempts at social reintegration after receiving bare minimum care while incarcerated (Palermo, 2014).

Mental Health Courts

Court diversion programs were created to reduce potentially harmful jail sentences and overrepresentation of mentally ill offenders in prison (Redlich et al., 2012). A specific type of court diversion, called mental health courts, offer mentally ill offenders an alternative to incarceration by incorporating mandatory mental health treatment with traditional court hearings (Redlich et al., 2006). Mental health courts have grown in popularity, growing from only four mental health courts in 1997 to over 400 mental health courts in the U.S. today (Goodale et al., 2013). The goal of mental health courts is to provide mentally ill offenders with treatment and to improve their quality of life rather than punish them (Ray et al., 2015). Judges and lawyers cooperate with psychiatrists, psychologists, case workers and social workers to meet the needs of participants (Schneider, 2010). To be considered for admission to a mental health court in Arizona, an offender's mental status must be questioned during the adjudication process, which results in a psychological evaluation (Arizona Supreme Court, 2014). An attorney will then file a

motion to refer the offender to a mental health court program. Finally, a committee of the State Board reviews all pertinent information and decides whether an offender meets the eligibility criteria for mental health courts. Participants enrolled in mental health courts must adhere to all terms of their admission to successfully complete the program.

Strengths of Mental Health Courts

Research on mental health courts indicates that participants who successfully complete their programs go longer without new criminal charges being filed against them, have lower rearrest rates for violent crimes, and lower recidivism rates compared to mentally ill offenders who do not participate in mental health courts (McNiel & Binder, 2007; McNiel et al., 2015; Ray et al, 2015; Moore et al., 2006). Mental health court teams utilize a combination of case management and individualized outpatient treatment to create successful regimens that promote recovery (Lamb et al., 2004). As a result, receiving effective treatment (i.e., mental health counseling and medication) decreases the likelihood of mental health court participants being terminated from their programs and the risk of future violence, and increases graduation rates (Bonfine et al., 2016; McNiel et al., 2015). For example, participants with a co-occurring substance use disorder showed about an 80% reduction in substance use within 12 months after completing a mental health court program (Cowell et al., 2004). Mental health court program graduation also predicts fewer psychiatric hospitalization days within a year following completion no matter what psychological disorder the participant has (Frailing, 2010). Further, mental health courts are a cost-effective alternative to traditional incarceration of mentally ill offenders. Incarceration is about twice as expensive as mental health court programs (Cowell et al., 2004; Slinger & Roesch, 2010).

The notable reduction in recidivism and substance use in mental health court program graduates compared to mentally ill offenders in prison stems from differences in goals between

the traditional court system and mental health courts. Traditional courts primarily emphasize punishing the offender, and prisons only provide limited mental health services to inmates. Moreover, the prison environment is frequently detrimental to the mental health of offenders with psychological disorders. In contrast, mental health courts emphasize rehabilitation, treatment, and cooperation while still holding participants accountable for their actions (Sarteschi et al., 2011). As a result, mental health court program participants are less likely to recidivate and repeatedly cycle through the criminal justice system (Ray et al., 2015; Anestis et al., 2014; Moore et al., 2006; Burns et al., 2013). Mental health court completion is also associated with other positive outcomes such as, improvements in participant mental health status, decreased rates of violent behavior and homelessness, and fewer psychiatric hospitalizations (Broner et al., 2005; Cosden et al, 2003; Lamb et al., 1996; Verhaaff & Scott, 2015).

Predictors of Successful Completion

There are several reasons why it is important for mental health court programs to be able to identify participants who will likely graduate and not recidivate. Mental health courts are expensive, have limited openings, and their existence depends on government funding and public support. Mental health courts must demonstrate their value to continue receiving monetary and community support and to encourage the creation of more mental health courts. Additionally, studies like the present one may help more mental health courts identify changes they need to make in their treatment regimens and procedures to improve the rate of successful completion of their programs, reduce recidivism rates and hospitalizations, and better meet the needs of participants.

Established Predictors: Participant Characteristics

Participant age is a significant predictor of community drug and mental health treatment outcomes. Older adults are more likely to complete treatment and experience positive outcomes (Mateyoke-Scrivner et al., 2004) whereas younger adults are more likely to drop out of treatment programs (Edlund et al., 2002). Dropping out of treatment is also associated with low-income participants who lack insurance (Shim et al., 2017). Younger participants in drug treatment programs are more likely than older participants to have fewer financial resources. Additionally, younger participants are at greater risk of dropping out of treatment than older participants due to disengagement and delays in treatment (Stewart, 2012). Older participants tend to rate community treatment regimens as effective (Lippens & Mackenzie, 2011), and have longer histories of drug use, which may increase motivation to complete treatment programs (Melnick et al., 1997). In contrast, younger participants are more likely than older participants in treatment to be engaging in drug use and criminal behavior (Rempel & Destefano, 2002).

Gender

Studies generate mixed results when testing associations between gender and mental health court program outcomes. Female offenders are more likely to be referred and admitted to mental health courts than male offenders (Steadman & Naples, 2005). However, despite conflicting evidence, gender generally has not been found to influence mental health court graduation rates (Boothroyd et al., 2003). For example, recent research by Kothari et al. (2014) shows successful program completion and equal recidivism rates in both men and women. Although previous research does not identify gender as a significant predictor of admission or graduation (Verhaaff & Scott, 2015), it is included as a variable in the present study.

Age

Race

Previous research confirms racial disparity within the criminal justice system, with minorities being overrepresented (Rodriguez, 2008). Despite these findings, a consistent relationship between race and program completion has not been identified in mental health court participants (Redlich et al., 2010). However, recent studies have revealed racial differences in mental health court completion. Ray & Dollar (2013) indicates white females are less likely to be terminated from mental health courts than any other racial group. Another study shows Black and Hispanic offenders have lower rates of treatment completion (Guerrero et al., 2013). Further, positive results have been found regarding racial differences in recidivism following program completion. Behnken et al. (2017) found a greater reduction in recidivism following mental health court completion in Nonwhite participants than White participants, specifically Hispanic participants and the combined racial group (Black, Iranian, Asian, Biracial, etc.). These recent findings suggest that race has become a factor in graduation and recidivism rates in mental health courts and can possibly be used to assist legal professionals in adjusting programs to fit the needs of Nonwhite participants.

Psychological Disorders

Mentally ill offenders are extended admission offers partly based on type and severity of diagnoses. Mental health courts offer combined outpatient treatment and court hearings. Therefore, it may be less likely for an offender with a disorder that requires constant inpatient care (such as psychotic disorders) to be offered admission to a mental health court program. Depression, anxiety, bipolar disorder, PTSD, ADHD, schizophrenia, and co-occurring substance use are especially common among participants (Weitzel et al., 2007; Comartin et al., 2015). Research shows the severity of psychological disorders influences the likelihood of successful completion of the program as well as recidivism rates. For instance, participants diagnosed with

severe disorders such as schizophrenia and bipolar disorder have low recidivism rates postgraduation (Goodale et al., 2013; Comartin et al., 2015).

Co-occurring Substance Use

Substance use disorders are frequently comorbid with certain psychological disorders. For instance, offenders diagnosed with schizophrenia and depression are more likely to meet criteria for alcohol and drug use disorders than non-mentally ill offenders (Abram & Teplin, 1991). Co-occurring substance use disorders are a strong predictor of criminal behavior (Brown et al., 1989) and increases an offender's likelihood of arrest (Brown et al., 1989) and negative termination from treatment (Hiday et al., 2014). Further, offenders with comorbid substance use disorders are 91% less likely to graduate from drug court (Burns et al., 2013). Nonetheless, research suggests these offenders can benefit from mental health court programs due to their holistic approach, which treats both mental disorders and substance use (Hiday et al., 2014). *Pre-program Criminal History*

The criminal history of mental health court participants has been consistently found to predict recidivism following program completion (Moore & Hiday, 2006; Bonta, Law & Hanson, 1998; Ulmer, 2001). One study indicates each pre-program criminal charge increases the likelihood of recidivism within two years after completion by 17% (Snedker, Beach, & Corcoran, 2017). Prior jail days were also found to be associated with increased recidivism rates, but not with program completion (Burns, Hiday, & Ray, 2013). When it comes to program completion, there are mixed results. Many studies find pre-program criminal history does not influence program completion. Other research indicates the number of prior charges, illegal drug use and felonies are associated with decreased rates of successful program completion (Hiday, Ray, & Wales, 2014).

Potential Predictor Not Used in Prior Studies

Warnings of Sanctions

Successful program completion relies heavily on participant compliance. Lack of behavioral changes and cooperation with mental health court program requirements show strong associations with negative termination (Hiday et al., 2014). To address noncompliant participants, mental health court programs administer various forms of sanctions following failure to adhere to court-ordered conditions, including additional court hearings, reprimands, "scolding" (verbal reprimand from the judge), stricter treatment conditions, and changes in housing (Griffin et al., 2002). The use of sanctions is associated with increased rates of retention and successful completion of treatment (Maxwell, 2000). However, when the sanction is jail time, emerging evidence suggests that participants are more likely to recidivate upon completion of the program (Callahan et al., 2013). Mandated sanctions have been consistently identified as a significant predictor of treatment outcomes, but *threats* of sanctions have not yet been included as a predictor in treatment program completion research (Hepburn & Harvey, 2007).

Present Study

The goal of the present study is to identify participant characteristics that accurately predict program outcomes. Although research has demonstrated many benefits mental health courts provide to its participants and society, further study of predictors of successful program completion and reduced recidivism is necessary.

The present study sought to identify characteristics that predict mental health court program graduation or termination and post-program recidivism rates within two years. The present study includes predictors that have previously been shown to be related to mental health court graduation and to recidivism as well as a new predictor (warnings of sanctions).

CHAPTER II

METHOD

Participants

Archival data was collected from 102 adult mental health court participants enrolled in a mental health court program in Arizona. To be included in the analysis, participants were required to have graduated or have been terminated from the program. Twenty-seven participants were currently enrolled, so their data was not included. The final sample included 75 adult participants (51 males, 24 females; M = 40.15, SD = 11.94; 47% White, 14% Native American, 7% Black, 7% Unknown). Cohen & Cohen (1983) recommended 187 participants with at least 5 predictors to have a power of 0.80 and a medium effect of 0.30. Because the sample was less than recommended by Cohen & Cohen (1983), a post-hoc power analysis was conducted to examine the observed power associated with the analysis.

Procedure

Electronic archival data was collected via Excel and de-identified by the agency prior to the analysis. The present study utilized IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) to conduct two binary logistic regression analyses. The first analysis determined if there were any relationships between participant characteristics and mental health court program graduation. The second analysis investigated which characteristics predicted recidivism in participants who have successfully completed the program.

Each binary logistic regression was conducted hierarchically, in which the first block consisted of the predictors that have been previously investigated by mental health court research (gender, age, race, psychiatric diagnosis, and co-occurring substance use) and the second block consisted of a new variable not used in prior mental health court research (warnings of sanctions).

Measures

Criteria Variables

Graduation means the participants had successfully completed all the requirements the mental health court required of him or her (e.g., negative drug tests, participated in therapy, appeared at court hearings, etc.).

Termination means a participant has been removed from the mental health court because of significant violations of its requirements.

Recidivism means new criminal charges were filed against a participant in mental health court within two years after the participant graduates from mental health court.

Predictors included age, gender, race, psychological diagnosis, pre-program criminal history and warnings of sanctions. Pre-program criminal history means the index offense (i.e., the crime for which the participant was sent to mental health court) was a felony or misdemeanor or that it was a violent or non-violent crime. Warnings of sanctions means a participant in mental health court has been warned that another violation of the requirements the mental health court imposed on him or her can result in the participant being sent to jail for a period of time.

CHAPTER III

RESULTS

A post-hoc power analysis using G*Power 3.1 revealed that, with $\alpha = 0.05$, the present study yielded significant results with sufficient power (0.86).

Hypotheses

The following research hypotheses were tested:

- 1. Male participants will have higher rates of negative termination and post-program recidivism than female participants.
- 2. Older participants will have higher rates of graduation and lower rates of post-program recidivism than younger participants.
- 3. White participants will have higher rates of graduation and lower rates of post-program recidivism than Non-white participants.
- Participants diagnosed with depression, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder and/or cooccurring substance use disorders will have higher rates of negative termination and postprogram recidivism than those with other diagnoses.
- Participants with a pre-program history of felonies or violent crimes will have higher rates of negative termination and post-program recidivism than those with a history of misdemeanors/nonviolent crimes.
- Participants with a history of warnings of sanctions during the program will have higher rates of negative termination and post-program recidivism than those without a history of warnings of sanctions.

Graduation from the Program

The model correctly classified 19 participants as terminated from the program and 35 participants as graduated from the program, producing an overall correct classification rate of

72%. However, the model was not significant (p = 0.126), indicating the predictors as a group did not significantly improve the prediction of which participants would graduate from mental health court compared to the baseline model (See Table 1; For predictors, see Table 2, Step 2. Psychological diagnosis severity and category and violent vs nonviolent pre-program criminal history offenses were examined in a separate analysis to reduce the possibility of violating the multicollinearity assumption; See Table 3).

H1: Male participants were hypothesized to be significantly more likely to graduate from their mental health court program. Gender did not significantly contribute to a participant's program status (p = 0.67).

H2: Older participants were hypothesized to be significantly more likely to graduate from their mental health court program. Age was a significant predictor (p = 0.03) and showed older participants were 1.052 times more likely to graduate from the program than younger participants, supporting this hypothesis.

H3: White participants were hypothesized to be significantly more likely to graduate from the program than Nonwhite participants. Race did not significantly predict program graduation (p = 0.08).

H4: As shown in previous studies, psychiatric diagnosis was hypothesized to significantly contribute to a participant's program status. Psychiatric diagnosis was coded in different ways: *psychotic disorders* (p = 0.81) indicated whether a participant had a psychotic disorder or not, *severity* (p = 0.64) indicated the seriousness of the disorder a participant had, and *category* (p = 0.11) indicated which category a disorder fell into (mood, developmental, etc.). Psychiatric diagnosis did not significantly predict a participant's program status.

H5: Participants with a pre-program history of felonies and violent crimes were hypothesized to be less likely to graduate from the program than participants with histories of

misdemeanors and nonviolent crimes. Both misdemeanors (p = 0.06) and felonies (p = 0.05) were marginally significant. Participants were between 0.805 - 0.872 times less likely to graduate from the program. Participants with a history of violent crimes (p = 0.05) were about 0.565 times less likely to graduate from the program.

H6: Participants with a history of warnings of sanctions during the program were hypothesized to be less likely to graduate from the program. Warnings of Sanctions did not significantly predict a participant's program status (p = 0.11).

Recidivism

The model correctly classified 36 participants who did not recidivate and 19 participants who did recidivate, producing an overall correct classification rate of 73%. The final block was significant (p = 0.02); however, the overall model was not significant (p = 0.08), indicating the variables in the analysis did not significantly improve the prediction of which participants would recidivate following the program compared to the baseline model (See Table 4; For predictors, see Table 5, Step 2. Psychological diagnosis severity and category and violent vs nonviolent preprogram criminal history offenses were examined in a separate analysis to reduce the possibility of violating the multicollinearity assumption; See Table 6).

H1: Gender did not significantly predict recidivism (p = 0.55).

H2: It was hypothesized that older participants were less likely to engage in post-program recidivism than younger participants. Age did not significantly predict recidivism (p = 0.90).

H3: White participants were hypothesized to be less likely to recidivate. Race did not significantly predict recidivism (p = 0.67).

H4: Psychiatric diagnosis was hypothesized to contribute to a participant's likelihood of post-program recidivism. If a participant was diagnosed with a psychotic disorder (p = 0.84), it

did not significantly predict recidivism, nor did the severity (p = 0.31) or category (p = 0.95). Co-occurring substance use disorders did not predict recidivism (p = 0.21).

H5: Participants with a history of felonies and violent crimes were hypothesized to be more likely to recidivate. Pre-program criminal history generally did not predict recidivism (p = 0.08). However, having a misdemeanor (p = 0.02), felony (p = 0.03), or both (p = 0.02) and history of violent crimes (p = 0.05) significantly predicted recidivism. Participants with felonies were 13.927 times more likely to recidivate than those with misdemeanors (7.796 increased likelihood of post-program recidivism). Participants with a history of both felonies and misdemeanors were 15.241 times more likely to recidivate after the program.

H6: Participants who received one or more warnings of sanctions during the program were hypothesized to be more likely to engage in post-program recidivism than participants with no history of sanctions. Warnings of Sanctions significantly predicted recidivism (p = 0.02) and indicated participants were 1.960 times more likely to recidivate with every additional warning of a sanction.

Parsimony

To achieve parsimony, variables that significantly contributed to graduation or termination and recidivism were examined in separate regression analyses (Field, 2013). *Graduation from the Program*

Age, race, and pre-program criminal history significantly predicted whether a mental health court participant would graduate from the program. The model correctly classified 14 participants as terminated from the program and 34 participants as graduated from the program, producing an overall correct classification rate of 64%. The model was significant (p = 0.02), indicating the predictors as a group significantly improved the prediction of which participants

would graduate from mental health court compared to the baseline model (See Table 7; see Table 8 for predictors).

H2: Age did not significantly predict graduation (p = 0.08).

H3: Race was marginally significant (p = 0.06). Moreover, the graduation rates for Native American participants differed significantly from the graduation rate for White participants (p = 0.006). Native American participants were 0.873 times less likely to graduate from their mental health court program.

H5: Pre-program criminal history significantly predicted graduation (p = 0.04). Participants with a history of misdemeanors were 1.897 times more likely to graduate from their program than participants with a history of felonies.

Recidivism

Pre-program criminal history and warnings of sanctions predicted whether a mental health court participant would recidivate. The model correctly classified 38 participants without post-program charges and 13 participants with post-program charges, producing an overall correct classification rate of 68%. The model was significant (p = 0.008), indicating the predictors as a group significantly improved the prediction of which participants would engage in post-program recidivism compared to the baseline model (See Table 9; see Table 10 for predictors).

H5: Pre-program criminal history did not generally predict recidivism (p = 0.11). However, participants with a history of both felonies and misdemeanors were significantly more likely to recidivate (p = 0.04).

H6: Warnings of Sanctions significantly predicted recidivism (p = 0.02). With each additional warning, participants were 1.928 times more likely to recidivate than participants with fewer or no warnings of sanctions.

CHAPTER IV

DISCUSSION

The present study has implications for future research and possible implications for mental health court programs. Age, race, pre-program criminal history, and warnings of sanctions predicted whether a participant would graduate from the mental health court program and whether they would recidivate.

Older participants were more likely to graduate from the mental health court program than younger participants. Previous research suggests many reasons why older participants experience higher graduation rates than younger participants, such as differences in cognitive development, drug use, and onsets of various mental disorders (i.e., some mental disorder become overt at younger ages). Therefore, mental health courts may need to provide longer and more intense treatment for younger participants.

Although race in general did not significantly predict graduation, Native American participants were nearly twice as likely to be terminated from mental health court and about 13 times more likely to recidivate. The present study suggests that mental health courts may not be meeting the needs of Native American participants and that changes are recommended to better address them, including after they graduate from mental health court. For instance, the mental health court that supplied the data for the present study is located in a region where there are several nearby reservations. Therefore, it may be advantageous to consult with and include Native American caregivers from those reservations in the mental health court team. In addition, the Native American caregivers may also be able to provide assistance to Native American participants who have graduated from mental health court to reduce their rate of recidivism.

Participants with pre-program criminal histories of felonies and violent crimes were more likely to be terminated from mental health court and to recidivate. Moreover, with each

additional warning of a sanction, participants were nearly twice as likely to recidivate than participants with few or no warnings of sanctions. Warnings of sanctions (threats of jail days) was the novel variable that was included in the present study due to its significant contribution to recidivism prediction in drug court research. The findings from the present study suggest changes to adherence guidelines, such as limiting jail-based sanctions as a form of punishment. Previous research suggests participants with more pre-program jail days are more likely to recidivate (Burns, Hiday, & Ray, 2013). The present study did not examine the effect of preprogram jail days on participants, but it did find participants with more *threats* of jail days during the program were more likely to recidivate after the program. Therefore, it may be beneficial to administer other forms of sanctions when participants violate mental health court mandates.

Limitations and Implications

The present study found significant predictors that contributed to both mental health court program outcomes and recidivism with sufficient power, but not without limitations. A major limitation is that the sample from this study came from one mental health court, which is not a representative sample of other mental health courts. Demographic and cultural differences, varying court practices and regulations may have affected the results from the present study.

Another limitation of this study is its sample size. The lack of significant predictors previously supported by research may be associated with analyzing a relatively small sample. As previously mentioned, the ideal sample size would have included data from at least 187 participants. The present study obtained useable data from 75 participants, less than half the recommended sample.

Nonetheless, the present study identified factors that may influence graduation from mental health courts and recidivism. As previously stated, age was related to successful graduation from the mental health court, with younger participants having a significantly lower

graduation rate than older participants. This result suggests that mental health courts may need to provide additional treatment for younger participants or even perhaps establish a different mental health court for juveniles. Further study is necessary to investigate the use of warnings of sanctions in mental health court programs, as the present study was one of the first to utilize it as a predictor in this setting. It is also highly encouraged to examine interactions for more wellrounded results. Mental health courts benefit mentally ill offenders, but further research is still needed so they can better meet the needs of its participants, increase graduation rates and reduce recidivism rates for mentally ill offenders.

Table 1

Classification Table for Graduation from the Program

Observed	Predi	cted	Percentage Correct
	Terminated	Graduated	
Terminated	19	13	59.4
Graduated	8	35	81.4
Overall Percentage			72.0

a. The cut value is 0.500

Table 2

Summary of Regression Model for Variables Predicting Graduation from the Program

						95% CI for Exp(B)		
		В	S.E.	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper	
Step 1	Gender	-0.218	0.556	0.695	0.804	0.270	2.391	
	Age	0.042	0.023	0.062	1.043	0.998	1.091	
	Race			0.085				
	Race (1)	-0.095	0.876	0.914	0.910	0.163	5.068	
	Race (2)	-2.056	0.802	0.010**	0.128	0.027	0.616	
	Race (3)	-0.219	0.895	0.807	0.804	0.139	4.641	
	Psychotic	0.173	0.398	0.664	1.189	0.545	2.594	
	Co-occurring Substance	-0.262	0.467	0.575	0.770	0.308	1.923	
	Pre-program			0.229				

	Criminal History							
	Pre-program Criminal History (0.197 (1)	0.802	0.806	1.218	0.253	5.872	
	Pre-program Criminal History (1.071 (2)	1.131	0.344	2.918	0.318	26.783	
	Pre-program Criminal History (1.755 (3)	1.023	0.086	5.782	0.778	42.945	
	Constant	-1.364	1.162	0.241	0.256			
Step 2	Gender	-0.248	0.566	0.670	0.780	0.257	2.368	
	Age	0.051	0.024	0.030*	1.052	1.004	1.103	
	Race			0.080				
	Race (1)	0.168	0.913	0.850	1.183	0.198	7.073	
	Race (2)	-2.161	0.830	0.010**	0.115	0.023	0.586	
	Race (3)	-0.559	0.938	0.550	0.572	0.091	3.598	
	Psychotic	0.098	0.410	0.810	1.103	0.494	2.461	
	Co-occurring Substance	-0.208	0.473	0.660	0.812	0.321	2.051	
	Pre-program Criminal History			0.187				
	Pre-program Criminal History (0.421 (1)	0.838	0.060	1.523	0.295	7.870	
	Pre-program Criminal History (1.358 (2)	1.177	0.050*	3.890	0.387	39.071	
	Pre-program Criminal History (2.053 (3)	1.074	0.056	7.794	0.950	63.961	
	Warnings of Sanctions	-0.417	0.264	0.110	0.659	0.393	1.105	
	Constant	-1.501	1.185	0.205	0.223			

Note. $R^2 = 0.88$ (Hosmer & Lemeshow) 0.17 (Cox & Snell) 0.23 (Nagelkerke). Model $\chi^2 = 3.1$ for Step 1; $R^2 = 0.64$ (Hosmer & Lemeshow) 0.20 (Cox & Snell) 0.26 (Nagelkerke). Model $\chi^2 = 5.2$ for Step 2. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01

Table 3

Summary of Regression Model for Variables Predicting Graduation from the Program Contd.

					95% C	I for Exp(B)
	В	S.E.	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Gender	-0.228	0.563	0.685	0.796	0.264	2.401
Age	0.048	0.024	0.046*	1.049	1.001	1.099
Race			0.068			
Race (1)	0.076	0.883	0.931	1.079	0.191	6.086
Race (2)	-1.992	0.757	0.008**	0.136	0.031	0.601
Race (3)	-0.457	0.913	0.617	0.633	0.106	3.793
Co-occurring Substance	-0.029	0.434	0.947	0.972	0.415	2.274
Category	0.022	0.201	0.110	1.000	0.915	1.022
Severity	-0.202	0.424	0.640	0.817	0.356	1.877
Violent	-0.832	0.430	0.050*	0.435	0.187	1.011
Warnings of Sanctions	-0.257	0.262	0.326	0.773	0.463	1.292
Constant	0.298	1.067	0.780	1.347		

Note. $R^2 = 0.49$ (Hosmer & Lemeshow) 0.18 (Cox & Snell) 0.24 (Nagelkerke). Model $\chi^2 = 6.4$ *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01

Classification Table for Recidivism

Observed	Pr	edicted	Percentage Correct
	No	Yes	
No	36	7	83.7
Yes	13	19	59.4
Overall Percentage			73.3

a. The cut value is 0.500

Table 5

Summary of Regression Model for Variables Predicting Recidivism

						95% C	CI for Exp(B)
		В	S.E.	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Step 1	Gender	-0.337	0.558	0.546	0.714	0.239	2.132
	Age	0.006	0.023	0.790	1.006	0.961	1.053
	Race			0.529			
	Race (1)	0.253	0.882	0.774	1.288	0.229	7.252
	Race (2)	0.823	0.726	0.257	2.278	0.549	9.450
	Race (3)	-0.700	0.958	0.465	0.496	0.076	3.247
	Co-occurring Substance	0.658	0.491	0.180	1.932	0.738	5.056
	Pre-program Criminal History			0.120			
	Pre-program Criminal History (2.077 (1)	1.063	0.051*	7.984	0.994	64.143
	Pre-program	1.862	0.883	0.035*	6.438	1.141	36.333

	Criminal History	(2)					
	Pre-program Criminal History	2.520 (3)	1.151	0.029*	12.427	1.301	118.700
	Psychotic	-2.723	0.400	0.631	0.825	0.376	1.808
	Constant	-2.723	1.279	0.033	0.066		
Step 2	Gender	-0.317	0.584	0.550	0.729	0.232	2.290
	Age	-0.003	0.02	0.900	0.997	0.949	1.046
	Race			0.670			
	Race (1)	-0.300	0.994	0.763	0.741	0.106	5.197
	Race (2)	0.804	0.744	0.280	2.234	0.520	9.595
	Race (3)	-0.247	0.998	0.804	0.781	0.110	5.525
	Co-occurring Substance	0.634	0.502	0.210	1.885	0.705	5.041
	Pre-program Criminal History			0.080			
	Pre-program Criminal History	2.634 (1)	1.141	0.020*	13.927	1.489	130.232
	Pre-program Criminal History	2.054 (2)	0.931	0.030*	7.796	1.256	48.382
	Pre-program Criminal History	2.724 (3)	1.193	0.020*	15.241	1.471	157.914
	Psychotic	-0.086	0.413	0.840	0.917	0.408	2.063
	Warnings of Sanctions	0.673	0.296	0.020*	1.960	1.097	3.500
	Constant	-3.208	1.368	0.019	0.040		

Note. $R^2 = 0.06$ (Hosmer & Lemeshow) 0.15 (Cox & Snell) 0.20 (Nagelkerke). Model $\chi^2 = 13.7$ for Step 1; $R^2 = 0.45$ (Hosmer & Lemeshow) 0.21 (Cox & Snell) 0.29 (Nagelkerke). Model $\chi^2 = 6.8$ for Step 2. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01

					95% C	CI for Exp(B)
	В	S.E.	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Gender	-0.533	0.583	0.360	0.587	0.187	1.839
Age	0.000	0.024	0.996	1.000	0.954	1.048
Race			0.412			
Race (1)	-0.160	0.961	0.868	0.853	0.130	5.606
Race (2)	1.083	0.712	0.128	2.954	0.732	11.921
Race (3)	-0.477	1.013	0.638	0.621	0.085	4.522
Co-occurring Substance	0.536	0.444	0.228	1.708	0.715	4.080
Category	0.012	0.201	0.950	1.000	0.951	1.012
Severity	-0.461	0.450	0.310	0.631	0.261	1.523
Violent	0.812	0.413	0.050*	2.253	1.003	5.062
Warnings of Sanctions	0.493	0.275	0.074	1.637	0.954	2.807
Constant	-1.734	1.139	0.128	0.177		

Summary of Regression Model for Variables Predicting Recidivism Contd.

Note. R² = .69 (Hosmer & Lemeshow) .18 (Cox & Snell) .24 (Nagelkerke). Model χ^2 = 4.8 *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01

Classification	<i>Table for</i>	Graduation from	the Program
2		<u> </u>	

Observed	Predi	Percentage Correct		
	Terminated	Graduated		
Terminated	14	18	43.8	
Graduated	9	34	79.1	
Overall Percentage			64.0	

a. The cut value is 0.500

Table 8

Summary of Regression Model for Variables Predicting Graduation from the Program

					95% CI for Exp(B)		
	В	S.E.	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper	
Age	0.039	0.022	0.080	1.040	0.996	1.086	
Race			0.060				
Race (1)	-0.148	0.870	0.865	0.862	0.157	4.747	
Race (2)	-2.065	0.758	0.006**	0.127	0.029	0.560	
Race (3)	-0.480	0.851	0.572	0.619	0.117	3.277	
Pre-program Criminal History	0.640	0.311	0.040*	1.897	1.030	3.492	
Constant	-2.302	1.259	0.067	0.100			

Note. R² = 0.12 (Hosmer & Lemeshow) 0.16 (Cox & Snell) 0.21 (Nagelkerke). Model $\chi^2 = 11.3$ *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01

Classification Table for Recidivism

No	Yes	
38	5	88.4
19	13	40.6
-		No Yes 38 5 19 13

a. The cut value is 0.500

Table 10

Summary of Regression Model for Variables Predicting Recidivism

		95% CI for Exp			I for Exp(B)	
	В	S.E.	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Pre-program Criminal History			0.110			
Pre-program Criminal History	-0.435 (1)	0.732	0.552	0.647	0.154	2.716
Pre-program Criminal History	0.247 (2)	0.997	0.804	1.280	0.181	9.039
Pre-program Criminal History	-2.193 (3)	1.045	0.040*	0.112	0.014	0.865
Warnings of Sanctions	0.656	0.271	0.020*	1.928	1.134	3.278
Constant	-0.254	0.654	0.698	0.776		

Note. $R^2 = 0.69$ (Hosmer & Lemeshow) 0.17 (Cox & Snell) 0.23 (Nagelkerke). Model $\chi^2 = 3.1$ *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01

References

- Anestis, J., & Carbonell, J. (2014). Stopping the revolving door: Effectiveness of mental health court in reducing recidivism by mentally ill offenders. *Psychiatry Services*, 65(9), 1105-1112. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201300305.
- Arizona Supreme Court & National Center for State Courts. (2014). Arizona mental health court standards, 1-51.
- Behnken, M., Bort, A., & Borbon, M. (2017). Race and gender differences among juvenile mental health court graduates. *Juvenile and Family Court Journal*, 68(2), 19-31.
 doi: 10.1111/jfcj.12092.
- Bonfine, N., Ritter, C., Munetz, M. (2016). Exploring the relationship between criminogenic risk assessment and mental health court program completion. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, *45*, 9-16. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2016.02.002.
- Bonta, J. (1998). The prediction of criminal and violent recidivism among mentally disordered offenders: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *123*(2), 123-142.
 doi: 10.1037%2F0033-2909.123.2.123.
- Boothroyd, R. A., Poythress, N. G., McGaha, A., Petrila, J. (2003). The Broward mental health court: Process, outcomes, and service utilization. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 26(1), 55-71. doi: 10.1016/S0160-2527(02)00203-0.
- Broner, N., Maryl, D. W., & Landsberg, G. (2005). Outcomes of mandated and nonmandated New York City jail diversion for offenders with alcohol, drug, and mental disorders. *The Prison Journal*, 85, 18-49. doi: 10.1177/0032885504274289.
- Brown, V. B., Ridgley, M. S., Pepper, B., Levine, L. S., Ryglewics, H. (1989). The dual crisis:
 Mental illness and substance abuse. *American Psychologist*, 44, 565-569.
 doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.44.3.565.

Bureau of International Information Programs; United States Department of State. (2004). Outline of the U.S. Legal System. http://usinfo.state.gov/.

Bureau of Justice Statistics (2014). Correctional populations in the United States, 2013, 1-14.

- Burns, P., Hiday, V., Ray, B. (2013). Effectiveness 2 years post-exit of a recently established mental health court. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 57(2), 189-208. doi: 10.1177/0002764212465416.
- Callahan, L., Steadman, H. J., Tillman, S. (2013). A multi-site study of the use of sanctions and incentives in mental health courts. *Law and Human Behavior*, *37*(1), 1-9. doi: 10.1037/h0093989.
- Comartin, E., Kubiak, S., Bradley, R., Tillander, E., Hanna, J. (2015). Short- and long-term outcomes of mental health court participants by psychiatric diagnosis. *Psychiatric Services*, 66(9), 923-929. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201400230.
- Cosden, M., Ellens, J., Schnell, J., Yasmeen, Y., Wolfe, M. (2003). Evaluation of a mental health treatment court with assertive community treatment. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law, 21*, 415-427. doi: 10.1002/bsl.542.
- Cowell, A., Broner, N., Dupont, R. (2004). The cost-effectiveness of criminal justice diversion programs for people with serious mental illness co-occurring with substance abuse.
 Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice, 20(3), 292-315.
 doi: 10.1177/1043986204266892.
- DeVall, K. E. & Lanier, C. L. (2012). Successful completion: An examination of factors influencing drug court completion for white and non-white male participants. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 47, 1106-1116. doi: 10.3109/10826084.2012.680171.

Edlund, M. J., Wang, P. S., Berglund, P. A., Katz, S. J., Lin, E., Kessler, R. C. (2002). Dropping

out of mental health treatment: Patterns and predictors among epidemiological survey respondents in the United States and Ontario. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *159*(5), 845-851. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.159.5.845</u>.

- Evans, E., Li, L., Hser, Y. (2009). Client and program factors associated with dropout from court mandated drug treatment. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, *32*(3), 204-212.
 doi: 10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2008.12.003.
- Field, A. (2013). Discovering Statistics Using IBM SPSS Statistics (4th ed.) London: Sage Publications.
- Frailing, K. (2010). How mental health court function: Outcomes and observations. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, *33*(4), 207-213. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2010.06.001.
- Goodale, G., Callahan, L., Steadman, H. (2013). What can we say about mental health courts today? *Psychiatry Services*, *64*(4), 298-300. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201300049.
- Griffin, P. A., Steadman, H. J., & Petrila, J. (2002). The use of criminal charges and sanctions in mental health courts. *Psychiatric Services*, *53*(10), 1285-1289.
 doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.53.10.1285.
- Guerrero, E. G., Marsh, J. C., Duan, L., Oh, C., Perron, B., Lee, B. (2013). Disparities in completion of substance abuse treatment between and within racial and ethnic groups. *Health Services Research*, 48(4), 1450-1467. doi: 10.1111/1475-6773.12031.
- Hartford, K., Heslop, L., Stitt, L., & Hoch, J. S. (2005). Design of an algorithm to identify persons with mental illness in a police administrative database. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 21, 1-11. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2004.12.001.
- Hepburn, J. R. & Harvey, A. N. (2007). The effect of the threat of legal sanction on program retention and completion: Is that why they stay in drug court? *Crime & Delinquency*, 53, 255-280. doi: 10.1177/0011128705283298.

Hiday, V., Ray, B. & Wales, H. (2014). Predictors of mental health court graduation. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 20*(2). 191-199. doi: 10.1037/law0000008.

- Junginger, J., Claypoole, K., Laygo, R., Cristani, A. (2006). Effects of serious mental illness and substance abuse on criminal offenses. *Psychiatric Services*, 57(6), 879-882. https://ps.psychiatryonline.org/doi/full/10.1176/ps.2006.57.6.879.
- Kothari, C. L., Butkiewicz, R., Williams, E. R., Jacobson, C., Morse, D. S., Cerulli, C. (2014).
 Does gender really matter? Exploring mental health recovery court legal and health outcomes. *Health & Justice*, *2*, 1-11. doi: 10.1186/s40352-014-0012-0.
- Lamb, H. R., Weinberger, L. E., & Gross, J. D. (1996). Court intervention to address the mental health needs of mentally ill offenders. *Psychiatric Services*, 47, 275-281. doi: 10.1176/ps.47.3.275.
- Lamb, H. R., Weinberger, L., Gross, B. (2004). Mentally ill persons in the criminal justice system: Some perspectives. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 75(2), 107-126.
 doi: 10.1023/B:PSAQ.0000019753.63627.2c.
- Lamb, H. R. & Weinberger, L. E. (2014). Decarceration of U.S. jails and prisons: Where will persons with serious mental illness go? *The Journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law, 42*, 489-494. doi: http://jaapl.org/content/jaapl/42/4/489.full.pdf.
- Lippens, T. & Mackenzie, C. S. (2011). Treatment satisfactions, perceived treatment effectiveness, and dropout among older users of mental health services. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 67(12), 1197-1209. doi: 10.1002/jclp.20842.
- Mateyoke-Scrivner, A., Webster, J. M., Staton, M., Leukefeld, C. (2004). Treatment retention predictors of drug court participants in a rural state. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 30(3), 605-625. doi: 10.1081/ADA-200032304.

Maxwell, S. R. (2000). Sanction threats in court-ordered programs: Examining their effects

on offenders mandated into drug treatment. *Crime and Delinquency*, *46*(4), 542-563. doi: 10.1177/0011128700046004007.

- McNiel, D., Binder, R. (2007). Effectiveness of a mental health court in reducing criminal recidivism and violence. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 164, 1395-1403. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.06101664.
- McNiel, D., Sadeh, N., Delucchi, K., Binder, R. (2015). Prospective study of violence risk reduction by a mental health court. *Psychiatric Services*, *66*(6), 598-603.
 doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201400203.
- Melnick, G., De Leon, G., Hawke, J., Jainchill, N., Kressel, D. (1997). Motivation and readiness for therapeutic community treatment among adolescents and adult substance abusers. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 23(4), 485-507.
 https://doi.org/10.3109/00952999709016891.
- Moore, M. & Hiday, V. (2006). Mental health outcomes: A comparison of re-arrest and rearrest severity between mental health court and traditional court participants. *Law and Human Behavior, 30*, 659-674. doi: 10.1007/s10979-006-9061-9.
- Mulvale, G., Abelson, J., & Goering, P. (2007). Mental health service delivery in Ontario,
 Canada: How do policy legacies shape prospects for reform? *Health, Economics, Policy, and Law, 2*, 363-389. doi: 10.1017/S1744133107004318.
- Palermo, G. (2014). The mentally ill offender: Failed reintegration and recidivism.
 International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology, 58(7), 763 764. doi: 10.1177/0306624X14537603.
- Prins, S. J. (2011). Does transinstitutionalization explain the overrepresentation of people with serious mental illnesses in the criminal justice system? *Community Mental Health Journal*, 47(6), 716-722. doi: 10.1007/s10597-011-9420-y.

- Ray, B. & Dollar, C. B. (2013). Examining mental health court completion: A focal concerns perspective. *The Sociological Quarterly*, 54(4), 647-669. doi: 10.111/tsq.12032.
- Ray, B., Kubiak, S., Comartin, E., Tillander, E. (2015). Mental health court outcomes by offense type at admission. Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research, 42(3), 659-674. doi: 10.1007/s10488-014-0572-2.
- Redlich, A., Steadman, H., Monahan, J., Robbins, P., Petrila, J. (2006). Patterns of practice in mental health courts: A National Survey. *Law and Human Behavior*, *30*, 347-362.
 doi: 10.1007/s10979-006-9036-x.
- Redlich, A. D., Steadman H. J., Callahan, L., Robbins, P. C., Vessilinov, R., Ozdogru, A. A.
 (2010). The use of mental health court appearances in supervision. *International Journal* of Law and Psychiatry, 33, 272-277. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2010.06.010.
- Redlich, A., Liu, S., Steadman, H., Callahan, L., Robbins, P. (2012). Is diversion swift?
 Comparing mental health court and traditional criminal justice processing. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *39*(4), 420-433. doi: 10.1177/0093854811432424.
- Rempel, M. & Destefano, C. D. (2002). Predictors of engagement in court-mandated treatment. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, *33*, 87-124. dx.doi.org/10.1300/J076v33n04_06.
- Rodriguez, N. (2008). A multilevel analysis of juvenile court processes: The importance of community characteristics. (unpublished). U.S. Department of Justice, 1-25. https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/223465.pdf.
- Roll, J. M., Prendergast, M., Richardson, K., Burdon, W., Ramirez, A. (2005). Identifying predictors of treatment outcomes in a drug court program. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 34(4), 641-656. doi: 10.1081/ADA-200068428.
- Sarteschi, C., Vaughn, M., Kim, K. (2011). Assessing the effectiveness of mental health courts: A quantitative review. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 12-20.

doi: 10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2010.11.003.

- Schneider, R. D. (2010). Mental health courts and diversion programs: A global survey.
 International Journal of Law and Psychiatry, *33*, 201-206.
 doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2010.07.001.
- Shim, R. S., Compton, M. T., Zhang, S., Roberts, K., Rust, G., Druss, B. G. (2017). Predictors of mental health treatment seeking and engagement in a community mental health center. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 53, 510-514. doi: 10.1007/s10597-016-0062-y.
- Slinger, E. & Roesch, R. (2010). Problem-solving courts in Canada: A review and a call for empirically-based evaluation methods. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 33, 258-264. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2010.06.008.
- Snedker, K., Beach, L., & Corcoran, K. (2017). Beyond the "revolving door?": Incentives and criminal recidivism in a mental health court. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 44(9), 1141-1162. doi: 10.1177/0093854817708395.
- Steadman, H. J. & Naples, M. (2005). Assessing the effectiveness of jail diversion programs for persons with serious mental illness and co-occurring substance use disorders. *Behavioral Sciences and the Law, 23*, 163-170. doi: 10.1002/bsl.640.
- Steadman, H. J., Redlich, A. D., Griffin, P., Petrila, J. & Monahan, J. (2005). From referral to disposition: Case processing in seven mental health courts. *Behavioral Sciences and the Law*, 23, 1-12. doi: 10.1002/bsl.641.
- Teplin, L. A. (1990). The prevalence of serious mental disorder among male urban jail detainees: Comparison with the epidemiologic catchment area program. *American Journal of Public Health*, 80, 663-669. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1404724/pdf/amjph00219-0015.pdf.
- Ulmer, J. (2001). Intermediate sanctions: A comparative analysis of the probability and severity

of recidivism. Sociological Inquiry, 71(2), 164-193.

https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.und.edu/10.1111/j.1475-682X.2001.tb01107.x

- Weitzel, J. A., Nochajski, T. H., Coffeey, S. F., Farrell, M. G. (2007). Mental health among suburban drug court participants. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse, 33*, 475-481. doi: 10.1080/00952990701315459.
- Verhaaff, A., & Scott, H. (2015). Individual factors predicting mental health court diversion outcomes. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 25(2), 213-228.
 doi: 10.1177/1049731514523507.